IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,436 DCA Case No.: 97-2644

Florida Bar No. 184170

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT BOECHER,

Appellee/Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 24 1998

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

and

/Robert R. Reynolds, Esquire
 DICKSTEIN, REYNOLDS & WOODS

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

In direct and express conflict with this Court's decision in <a href="Elkins">Elkins</a>, infra</a>, and the Third District's Court's decision in <a href="Carrera">Carrera</a>, infra</a>, the Fourth District has abrogated the new Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280 and ordered Allstate to create and provide discovery that is admittedly not obtainable under Rule 1.280.

Allstate Insurance Company v. Boecher</a>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D268

(Fla. 4th DCA January 21, 1998) (A 1-2).

All the proper discovery has already been produced by Allstate's expert and in a blanket Decision, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has now held that there is a presumption (without evidentiary basis) that insurance carriers in Florida can provide unlimited discovery by simply clicking on some computer icon. Not only is there no basis in the Record for such a presumption, but the trial court has actually ordered Allstate, if this Court affirms the Fourth District's opinion, to produce all the required information within 5 days (A 3-4).

It is respectfully submitted that Allstate should be given the opportunity to establish that it does not have the cyberspace capability the Fourth District has assumed it possesses and it should be give a reasonable opportunity to establish the burdensome task of manually producing the discovery ordered. In other words, the Fourth District has decided that this information is not privileged, nor protected and is easily obtainable in a millisecond on some type of megacomputer. At the very least, Allstate should be given the opportunity to file an

Affidavit with this Court, establishing that such a computer system is not in Allstate's possession, and the burdensome nature of the discovery ordered should be considered when this Court announces its rule of law in resolving the inter-District conflict. This is especially necessary when this "icon" issue was ruled upon without notice to Allstate (A 36).

The Plaintiff, Boecher, was involved in a rear end accident, when struck from behind by an uninsured motorist (A 31). Boecher sued his UM carrier, Allstate (A 32).

As part of his discovery, the Plaintiff sent Supplemental Interrogatories to the Defendant, Allstate, asking Allstate to identify every person who worked for a company called Bio-Dynamic Research Corporation, who has testified as an expert in the past three years for Allstate in the entire country, either at trial or by deposition and:

- 3. For the preceding three years, how many litigation cases has Bio Dynamics performed analysis and rendered opinions for Allstate Insurance Company?
- 4. Please identify the amount of money members, employees, or experts of Bio Dynamics have been paid during the preceding three years from Allstate Insurance Company?

(A 1-2).

At the same time, the Plaintiff sent to Bio-Dynamics itself, a subpoena for telephonic deposition, attaching written questions regarding the expert, who would testify in the pending case; the percentage of work done on behalf of plaintiffs and defendants, arguing what portion of work was devoted to litigation expertise;

how many cases in the past three years the expert had rendered opinions or analyzed (A 7). Among the questions to the expert himself, were two questions asking the expert to identify every case the company had ever been involved with on a nationwide basis for Allstate and the amount of money it made in the past three years on a nationwide basis working for Allstate:

- 9. PLEASE IDENTIFY EACH CASE IN WHICH MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, OR EXPERTS OF YOUR COMPANY HAVE BEEN RETAINED BY ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY ON A NATION WIDE BASIS.
- 10. PLEASE IDENTIFY THE AMOUNT OF MONEY MEMBERS, EMPLOYEES, OR EXPERTS OF YOUR COMPANY HAVE BEEN PAID DURING THE PRECEDING THREE YEARS FROM ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY ON A NATION WIDE BASIS; (the same exact questions sent to Allstate itself).

(A 7).

The Plaintiff also sent a subpoena to Bio-Dynamics asking for video tapes, films, etc. regarding studies as to the kinematics involved in rear end low velocity impacts and resulting whiplash injuries (A 8-9).

Allstate answered the Plaintiff's interrogatories by stating that it had never previously used Bio-Dynamics to provide expert testimony in the preceding three years and objected to questions 3 and 4, regarding how many cases Bio-Dynamics analyzed for Allstate and the amount total money paid to Bio-Dynamics for the past three years (A 11). Allstate noted that to identify every case that Bio-Dynamics was involved in nationwide was overbroad and burdensome; Allstate did not keep statistics on the utilization of experts from city to city and it would be

impossible to ascertain this information without great financial hardship to the Defendant (A-11).

Regarding the total amount of money paid to anybody connected with Bio-Dynamics over the past three years by Allstate nationwide, Allstate objected and stated that that amount of money was unknown; that documentation was not kept; and the only way such information could be determined would be to open each and every file Allstate had nationwide for the past three years to see if in fact Bio-Dynamics had been used in that particular case (A 11). Obviously, this would cause great financial hardship to generate this kind of information, which was not documented by Allstate (A-11)

Meanwhile, the corporate representative of Bio-Dynamics answered the Plaintiff's interrogatories, supplying information regarding the expert to testify in the case, Dr. McNish; listing all the cases he had testified in around the country over the past three years; provided the fee schedule used by Bio-Dynamics; and it objected to any other information, on the basis that either it was not maintained by the corporation, or was not available in a readily retrieval form (A 13-21).

Bio-Dynamics also raised attorney/client and work product privileges; objected to questions 9 and 10, regarding each case the company ever worked in when retained by Allstate; the total amount of money paid to the company; and again reasserted that the information was either not maintained or not maintained in a regularly retrievable form (A 15).

The Vice President of Bio-Dynamics filed an Affidavit, explaining the hardship and difficulty involved in obtaining the information sought in interrogatories 9 and 10, including having to review over 3,000 files, which material was work product, attorney/client privileged, or protected or confidential information; that it would take over 16 man-weeks to complete a review of the files to get the necessary information and an additional 12 weeks at an estimated cost of over \$25,000 and just to answer questions 9 and 10 would require a cost over \$12,000 and a period of more than 6 weeks to respond (A 23-29).

The hearing noticed for July, 1997, was on Bio-Dynamics Objections to Interrogatories 9 and 10, regarding the financial information and nationwide list the Plaintiff sought from Bio-Dynamics; to which Bio-Dynamics had appropriately responded with supporting Affidavits (A 30-40). The Plaintiff began arguing Allstate's Objections to Interrogatories instead and the court allowed this unnoticed issue to go forward over Allstate's objection (A 36). The Plaintiff told the judge that there were no cases requiring Allstate to provide the type of information he was seeking in questions 3 and 4; but that another trial judge in the area and a trial judge in Arizona had required Bio-Dynamics to produce the information and, therefore, Allstate should have to do it as well (A 32-34).

Allstate pointed out that the local trial court's order the Plaintiff was relying on, was issued <u>before</u> the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Elkins</u>, <u>infra</u>; and it did not require the expert, nor

the company he worked for, to reveal financial information which did not exist, nor to compile such records (A 34-36). There were eight criteria that had to be met before the Plaintiff could even get this information from the expert, who was the only one required to provide it; and then the judge announced that he just wanted to hear the part regarding Allstate and not the Objections and Affidavits filed by the expert and his company, Bio-Dynamics (A 34-36).

Allstate noted that the issue was no different than the cases involving the discovery of 1099s from corporations, as opposed to experts; this discovery was burdensome; there was no basis to require it to be produced on a nationwide level; and it would require an enormous amount of time to search all of Allstate's files across the United States to answer questions 3 and 4 (A 36-37).

The judge then summarily announced that he was going to grant the Motions to Compel Allstate to answer the questions regarding how many litigation cases Bio-Dynamics had rendered opinions in, or analyzed, for Allstate nationwide for the past three years and the amount of money paid to Bio-Dynamics for any services rendered by that company to Allstate nationwide for the past three years (A 37).

The judge decided that answering those two questions was not invasive as they were not directed to the expert; they were not asking for the expert's entire income from all sources, but just what Allstate had paid the expert over the past three years

nationwide (A 37-38). The judge made no mention of the fact that Bio-Dynamics had already responded and objected to these exact questions and had filed supporting Affidavits containing some of the information and proper objections to the remaining portions (A 37-38). However, the judge did ask if the Plaintiff wanted to withdraw his Motion to Compel Bio-Dynamics to provide the exact same information and the Plaintiff said no (A 38-39).

The judge then entered an Order requiring Allstate to provide the information within 30 days (A 40).

Bio-Dynamics in the meantime filed a second Affidavit outlining its response and objections to having to produce all of the information sought regarding video tapes and research on rear end collisions, etc. (A 42-48).

Allstate filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of the Discovery Order, pointing out to the court that to supply the information regarding every case in which Bio-Dynamics was involved, on a national level, to either analyze or render opinions for Allstate, was clearly overbroad; as it sought information in 52 separate and distinct states, involving numerous different Allstate offices, making it difficult and burdensome to obtain this information (A 49-52).

It was overly burdensome, as Allstate did not maintain any statistically readily available retrievable manner to assimilate and collate this kind of information; and to compile such information would cause a severe financial burden on Allstate; again since it was being asked to review every litigation case

involving Bio-Dynamics over the past three years nationwide; and the financial hardship was incalculable (A 50).

In addition, such documentation was not kept in a retrievable form and would require Allstate, nationwide, to look at every single file it had, to compile the information requested; which would require the Allstate offices in every individual county and state across the nation to shut down to review every open file; and all files in storage over the past three years; to obtain such information (A 50-51). Furthermore, the requests sought information that was privileged work product, since Bio-Dynamics may have been retained just to analyze cases, in preparation of litigation and the information was thus privileged (A 51).

Allstate pointed out to the court that in the recent decision of the Third District in <u>Carrera v. Casas</u>, 695 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) based on the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Elkins v. Syken</u>, 672 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1996), the information sought by the Plaintiff had to be directed only to the expert and not the parties or their attorneys (A 51). Without question, the discovery ordered deviated from established law as it sought protected financial information; the criteria in <u>Elkins</u> had not been met; and the discovery had been directed to the wrong party (A 51). The judge denied the Motion for Reconsideration (A 53).

On appeal, the Fourth District recognized that Allstate had argued that the interrogatories propounded both to itself and Bio-Dynamics, the expert witness, were overbroad and burdensome;

that Allstate did not keep such records and would have to compile such information; and that the discovery requested would be impossible to ascertain without great financial hardship.

Boecher, D268. The Fourth District noted that the trial court had found that the discovery, while not obtainable from the expert under the new Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280, was not invasive when sent to the party, instead of directly to the expert. Boecher, D268. The Fourth District noted that criteria approved by this Court in Elkins, became an amendment to Rule 1.280; but the Fourth District found that this discovery was expressly limited to the expert witness, while recognizing that the Plaintiff could not discover this information directly from the expert witness under this rule. Boecher, D268-269.

The Fourth District also acknowledged that the Third District had refused to allow this tactic to circumvent Rule 1.280 in <u>Carrera</u>, <u>supra</u>, but the Fourth District disagreed with the Third District's ruling and certified conflict to this Court. Boecher, D269.

In addition to deciding that there was nothing in the Rules that prevented the discovery prohibited in Rule 1.280, to be obtained from parties as opposed to expert witnesses, the Fourth District determined that the judge's discovery Order also was a rejection of Allstate's contention that to produce the discovery would be an undue burden. Boecher, D269. The Fourth District went one step further and not only did it agree that the discovery was not invasive as to Allstate, but then made the

following fact findings not based on any evidence in the Record whatsoever nor even argued to the trial court:

... Allstate knows -- or can readily lay its hands on records showing the data -- just how often and when it has used this expert witness. Although its motion for protective order contains boilerplate text about difficulties in locating the information sought -- in having to search numerous files -- there is nothing in the record furnished by Allstate suggesting that its burden in providing this information is any more difficult than the ordinary retrieval of common routine business records.

To be sure, we live in the age of computers -- not the bygone era of hooded clerics poring over ancient manuscripts seeking hidden truths. A labor that, just a few years ago, might have taken office clerks weeks or months now entails mere milliseconds of data processing time. It occurs to us that, in this pervasively computerized generation of doing business, any going concern would be sorely tried to establish burdensomeness in the mere retrieval of this kind of information. Surely Allstate has the power to pluck the data from its own cyberspace. The burden placed on this party should be presumed to be no more difficult than selecting the correct keys on a board or icons on a screen. Allstate has done nothing in the record to dispel such a presumption.

Boecher, D269.

Allstate sought review in this case based on the certified conflict between <u>Boecher</u> and <u>Carrera</u> and for this Court to address the irrebuttable presumption adopted by the Fourth District; that insurance carriers have easy access to computerized discovery that can be produced in milliseconds, especially where this irrebuttable presumption was not based on any evidence nor any argument made in the trial court below. The

Fourth District claimed that Allstate had done nothing in the Record to dispel the Fourth District's <u>sua sponte</u> presumption of cyberspace technology and immediate access to all discovery, which in itself, conflicts with the very facts contained in <u>Boecher</u>, noting that this material was not in a retrievable form. At the very least, if such a presumption is going to be the new rule of law in Florida, then Allstate should be given an opportunity to file an Affidavit establishing, in detail, how this material would have to be created and obtained and the cost of doing so.

A month after the Fourth District issued its Opinion ordering the discovery and certifying conflict, the trial court entered an Order on a Motion to Stay Discovery, compelling Allstate to begin assembling all the information, so that if this Court affirms the decision from the Fourth District, all the discovery could be produced within 5 days (A 3-4). The trial court's Order is in conflict with the Fourth District's opinion, as it recognizes that it will take months to assemble this information, if this Court should affirm the Fourth District's opinion. Therefore, in resolving the conflict between Boecher and Carrera and interpreting this Court's New Rule 1.280, this Court should also address the fact that there is no presumptive high-tech megacomputer that can spew forth discovery for Plaintiffs in milliseconds.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the present case, not only did the Plaintiff seek improper financial information about the expert and income the expert derived directly from the Defendant, but the Plaintiff went a step further and sought information about cases and money paid to the firm the expert worked for, just to get an opinion in the case or analyze the case, and wanted the total amount of money paid to employees of Bio-Dynamics, regardless of what they were paid for.

Without question the blanket <u>carte-blanche</u> discovery ordered in this case was burdensome, harassing, overbroad and totally improper; and in direct and express conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Elkins</u>, the Third District's decision in <u>Carrera</u>; the applicable Rule of Civil Procedure and clearly and unquestionably deviated from the essential requirements of law and the Opinion and discovery Order must be quashed.

The Fourth District's opinion in <u>Boecher</u> does not explain how impeachment of an expert witness with material expressly forbidden to be produced under 1.280 is somehow magically available to a plaintiff because the information is coming from the party instead of the expert. As noted by Allstate below, Allstate is not being impeached with this information, but rather the expert witness is and should be protected under the provision of <u>Elkins</u> and Rule 1.280. There is absolutely nothing in this Court's decision in <u>Elkins</u>, nor the new Rule of Civil Procedure that states that the Rule and case law can be ignored if the

appellate court decides, contrary to the Record, that the discovery information, otherwise protected, must be produced because it is easily accessible from cyberspace. If an expert cannot be impeached with the exact same information under this Court's decision in <a href="Elkins">Elkins</a> and Rule 1.280, there is simply no basis to circumvent this law by allowing impeachment because the interrogatories were sent to the Defendant, as opposed to the expert. The Fourth District has, once again, opened a Pandora's box of discovery abuse and, once again, it is up to this Court to shut the lid on this completely irrelevant, improper and unnecessary discovery.

The Fourth District's opinion in <u>Boecher</u> and discovery of expert witnesses must be limited to interrogatories sent to those experts, as required by Rule 1.280 and this Court's decision in <u>Elkins</u> and the Third District's decision in <u>Carrera</u>.

## Allstate Should be Allowed to File an Affidavit

The Fourth District, without evidentiary basis, simply stated that Allstate can simply "click on an icon" and retrieve this information. As indicated, there was no evidence to support this. Allstate should be allowed to produce an Affidavit to show this is not accurate. Computers are rapidly changing, such that every five years or so they are vastly different, and just because something is presently technically possible, does not mean that existing computer systems have been programmed to do that. Just because it is possible when a program is first

written to set up the program to do something, does not mean the program was written to do that. Nor does it mean that years later a program can be written to retrieve information that has been put into the computer over the years without appropriate codes or identifying data, etc.

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