FILED

SID J. WHITE

通酬 15 1998

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant/Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 92,436

DCA NO.: 97-2644

v.

FLORIDA BAR NO.: 983306

ROBERT BOECHER,

Appellee/Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JULIE H. LITTKY-RUBIN of LYTAL, REITER, CLARK, FOUNTAIN, & WILLIAMS, L.L.P. Post Office Box 4056 West Palm Beach, FL 33402-4056 (561) 655-1990 (561) 832-2932 - Facsimile Attorneys for Plaintiff/Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff sent timely, formal notice to Allstate advising it of his intention to call up Allstate's objections to interrogatories 3 and 4 for hearing. This court should prohibit Allstate from arguing that the trial court heard argument without proper notice.

The Fourth District correctly found that the recent amendments to Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.280, do not govern where discovery is sought from a party to the litigation, and not to a retained expert. Boecher, 705 So. 2d at 107. Rule 1.280 applies only to expert witnesses. See, Elkins v. Syken, 672 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1996). The line of cases which ultimately culminated in this Court's decision in Elkins reflects the logical and public policy reasons for this important distinction; namely, that a private

¹Plaintiff's response in opposition to Allstate's motion was previously filed separately with this Court.

citizen testifying on behalf of a party deserves more privacy with respect to his or her financial affairs than does a party who is directly involved and whose potential for bias outweighs such privacy concerns.

Finally, Allstate simply failed to include evidence in the record to support the position it now takes. It never filed an affidavit before the trial court swearing to reasons why the requests were burdensome and the information difficult for it to assemble. Because Allstate simply relied upon an unsworn motion for reconsideration of the trial court's initial order overruling its objections, and failed to file any supporting affidavits or testimony, the Fourth District simply found there was not support in the record to uphold its boilerplate objections. This court should refuse Allstate's unprecedented request to file affidavits at this level of the proceedings.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THIS COURT SHOULD ADOPT THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION IN ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO. V. BOECHER, 705 SO. 2D 106 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1998) BECAUSE IT ADDRESSES FACTUAL SITUATIONS DISTINGUISHABLE FROM RULE 1.280, FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, AND IS ALSO SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, LOGIC AND PUBLIC POLICY.

The Fourth District denied Allstate's petition for certiorari review of an order overruling objections to interrogatories in an automobile accident case. In its opinion, the court methodically explained why the recent amendments to Rule 1.280, Florida Rules of

Civil Procedure, limiting discovery from expert witnesses, do not apply when the discovery sought is from a party, and not an expert witness. Contrary to Allstate's characterizations, Judge Farmer's opinion is not that of a reckless renegade seeking to create presumptions contrary to record evidence, intentionally attempting to choke defendants with burdensome discovery. Instead, the Fourth District carefully explained that the record before it was deficient to support Allstate's contention that its burden in providing the information was any more difficult than the ordinary retrieval of routine business records. Boecher, 705 So. 2d at 108. The opinion also distinguished why the discovery sought from a party should be produced when the same discovery could not be sought from an expert witness. As the court wrote:

The case and the rule demonstrate that the nature and protection for a party from relevant discovery requests is qualitatively different from that afforded to someone who is merely a witness.

(Emphasis an original) (Citations omitted). Id. at 107.

The Fourth District was eminently correct in its <u>Boecher</u> decision, and this court should uphold its ruling.

A. Allstate's objections were properly noticed for hearing and thus Allstate cannot claim it was prejudiced by lack of notice.

Allstate maintains that the trial court overruled its objections to supplemental interrogatories 3 and 4, despite Plaintiff's failure to notice the objections for hearing. (See, Petitioner's Brief at pp. 2, 5) Allstate cites to the argument of one of its attorneys (not the attorney of record in the case) who

argued that he did not receive notice of the hearing on Allstate's objections, only notice of Biodynamic's objections (A 36). As Plaintiff's counsel pointed out to the court, and the trial court obviously agreed, the objections were in fact noticed (A 35-36). Thus, this court may freely consider this issue on the merits alone.

B. Both the trial court and the Fourth District were correct in holding that discovery from a party is qualitatively different than discovery from an expert witness (especially a non-medical expert witness):

In <u>Elkins v. Syken</u>, 672 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1996), this Court adopted the Third District's opinion in <u>Syken v. Elkins</u>, 644 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). In introducing the opinion, this Court wrote:

This is a petition to review the Third District Court of Appeal's en banc decision in Syken v. Elkins, 644 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), which concerns the appropriate scope of discovery necessary to impeach the testimony of an opponent's expert medical witness.

Elkins, 672 So. 2d at 518. (Emphasis added).

Prior to establishing the criteria for medical expert impeachment, the Third District explained its reasoning for limiting the discovery:

In the context of medical expert witnesses, courts in Florida have long held that the trial judge must balance the competing interest of the relevancy of the discovery information sought as impeachment information as against the burdensomeness of its production.

Upon en banc consideration, we decide that in order to demonstrate the probability of bias, it is sufficient for a doctor to be asked to give an approximate estimate for IME's and total patients seen in a year. The figures given need only be an honest estimate, and do not have to be an exact number. . .

[W]e adopt the reasoning of Chief Judge Schwartz . . . and Judge Jorgensen . . . and conclude that decisions in this field have gone too far in permitting burdensome inquiry into the financial affairs of physicians, providing information which 'serves only to emphasize the unnecessary detail that which would be apparent to the jury on the simplest cross examination: that certain doctors are consistently chosen by a particular side in personal injury cases to testify on its

respective behalf.'

Syken v. Elkins, 644 So. 2d at 544 - 545 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Further evidence that the guidelines set forth in <u>Elkins</u> and its progeny apply only to medical experts is found in a review of the eight criteria set forth by both the Third District and adopted by this court. For example, criterion number 1 states "the <u>medical expert</u> may be deposed either orally or by written deposition." Elkins v. Syken, 672 So. 2d at 521. Criterion number 4 allows counsel to inquire of the expert as to the "approximate number of IME's that he or she performs in one year." \underline{Id} . Finally, number 7 requires that "the patient's privacy must be Thus, three of the eight guidelines specifically observed." Id. reference factors relevant only to the testimony of medical experts, further buttressing the argument that the Elkins factors do not apply to the facts of this case.

In <u>LeJeune v. Aikin</u>, 624 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993), Chief Judge Schwartz wrote a special concurrence which served as the proverbial birth of the <u>Elkins</u> movement. There, Judge Schwartz expressed concern that courts had gone too far in permitting inquiry into the private financial affairs of testifying physicians. <u>Id</u>. at 789. The core of Judge Schwartz's concern was expressed in the following sentence:

I tend to believe therefore that our courts have misbalanced 'the competing interests that would be served by granting discovery or by denying it,' with the possible result that the discovery process is being used improperly as a tool to force particular doctors from being involved in the judicial process at all or to extract settlements in individual cases. Id. (Citations omitted) (Emphasis added).

Clearly, Judge Schwartz's concern about the chilling effect, later reiterated by this Court in Elkins, arose out of his fear that physicians in private practice -- who as part of their practice evaluate injured persons -- are essential to the litigation process. He expressed no concern that the proverbial "hired gun" (someone whose career is devoted merely to testifying) should be afforded the same protection as practicing physicians who engage in litigation as only one part of their multi-faceted medical practices. The courts have thus afforded protection to physicians engaged in the practice of medicine, from being forced to produce personal financial statements and tax returns which reveal unnecessary information about their private lives, and unnecessarily probe into matters irrelevant to the plaintiff's litigation. Because this court has found that such information may

be obtained less intrusively, the <u>Elkins</u> factors are there to guide litigants and attorneys in discovery bias of medical expert witnesses.

In Carrera v. Casas, 695 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), the case with which the Fourth District certified conflict and that which Allstate urges this Court to approve, the Third District was faced with the exact same concerns and questions as were presented In Carrera, plaintiffs again sought discovery from an by Elkins. expert witness who was the IME doctor. The Third District refused to allow plaintiffs to bypass the guidelines of **Elkins** where they simply sought to obtain from the party defendants the exact same information they could not obtain from the expert IME witness. Certainly, plaintiffs could not establish any bias of defendants themselves in that case, who had only hired these particular IME doctors to testify on their behalf in this one case. Thus, in Carrera, the discovery sought from the party was done so pretextually; the plaintiffs there were merely trying to obtain prohibited discovery from the expert witnesses by attempting to avoid Rule 1.280 as well as this Court's prescriptions in Elkins.

Conversely, here the bias sought is against a multi-million dollar insurance company that does not require protection from intrusion into its "private life." In this case, a unique confluence of factors considered by both the trial court and the Fourth District, prevents this Court from granting Allstate's petition. First, Plaintiff brought this lawsuit against his own underinsured motorist carrier, Allstate. Plaintiff, who has paid

numerous premiums to entitle him to insurance coverage for injuries caused by the negligence of others, is entitled to know how much his own carrier has paid to these "hired gun" experts to testify Second, the expert against him and other plaintiffs. Biodynamics Corporation retained by Allstate has not been hired to testify as a treating or evaluating physician, but rather as an expert from a corporation of testifying experts on biomechanical Finally, Allstate as a party involved in (PA 2). causation thousands of lawsuits is capable of "bias" in the retention of experts (unlike a defendant who merely is involved in one case and Thus, these facts are retains an expert witness one time). distinguishable from both Elkins and Carrera and the denial of Allstate's position should be upheld.

C. The discovery sought from Allstate as a party is clearly relevant.

Allstate maintains that the discovery requested by supplemental interrogatories 3 and 4 is not relevant to the litigation of this lawsuit. Plaintiff certainly agrees that discovery in civil cases must be relevant to the subject matter of the case and must be admissible or reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence. See, Allstate Insurance Co. v. Langston, 655 So. 2d 91, 94 (Fla. 1995). The Fourth District already found "the information sought in this case is indisputably relevant and meaningful to impeaching the witness." Boecher, 705 So. 2d at 107.

Before this Court issued its opinion in <u>Elkins</u>, numerous cases discussed the relevance of the amount of annual income an expert would receive for reviewing, advising, giving depositions or

testifying in certain kinds of cases, and that relevance to his or her bias as an expert. See e.g., Wood v. Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc., 593 So. 2d 1140, 1141 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 1281 (Fla. 1992). As the Wood court wrote with respect to obtaining financial records:

[W]e agree with the court's conclusion in <u>Dollar General</u>, <u>Inc. v. Glatzer</u>, 590 So. 2d 555, 556 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), that records of the type sought below by respondents are extremely relevant on the issue of . . . credibility as an expert witness. <u>Id</u>. at 1142

The First District then aligned itself with the Third and Fourth Districts in holding that the relevance of the information contained in the documents had to be weighed against the burdensomeness of producing those documents.

party is underinsured carrier and the Allstate as qualitatively different from the defendant driver party in the Carrera case. As a party, Allstate is vulnerable to accusations of bias in the hiring of experts. If a group of experts is assured a steady income for its consistently supportive testimony, certainly It is obvious that how much a that bias should be revealed. certain expert earns from one particular party is extremely relevant to the credibility of the retaining party as well as the This Court never disputed that relevance in Elkins. Instead, it found a countervailing interest in protecting necessary witnesses from unnecessary intrusions into their private and financial lives in an effort to minimize the chilling effect of having no medical expert witnesses to testify in personal injury cases. Here, as the Fourth District found, the situation is much different. The information sought is highly relevant to these witnesses bias toward the party, Allstate. Because Allstate is a party, there can be no chilling effect to deter it from its necessary participation in lawsuits.

D. Allstate has failed to demonstrate that the information requested would be difficult to ascertain without financial hardship.

The cornerstone of Allstate's argument to this Court arises from the Fourth District's ruling that a corporation of Allstate's size and stature should be able to provide the information requested in these interrogatories with little, if any, financial or labor hardship. Contrary to its protestations about record evidence from which the court could reach this ruling, Allstate failed to provide the trial court with any sworn testimony regarding the burdensomeness of Plaintiff's requests, despite numerous opportunities to do so. At the hearing, Allstate failed to present any affidavits or testimony to support its contention that the request was burdensome. Instead, Allstate's counsel merely argued:

Well, your Honor, under - - I think the discovery of this information involves - - is going to involve 1099's on these people from business files, financial information that I don't believe Allstate has readily available. Therefore, it's going to require a burdensome compile this information. to Furthermore, its on a national basis, your Honor. Their request is not only for Palm Beach County or South Florida or even Florida. The request is for a national search of this information, which is going to require an enormous amount of time spent to search all

the Allstate's across the United States to compile this information (A 36-37).

Allstate never produced an affidavit nor attempted to introduce testimony of anyone with personal knowledge about these issues. Further compounding this tactical choice, Allstate also filed an unsworn motion for reconsideration (A 49-52). Although this motion contained argument that Plaintiff's requests were overly burdensome and that such information was not maintained in a statistically-ready, retrievable manner, Allstate failed to accompany this motion with either an affidavit or sworn testimony. Thus, as the Fourth District found in Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boecher, this record does not support that Allstate's burden in providing this information "is any more difficult than the ordinary retrieval of common, routine business records." Id at 108.

When a party objects to discovery on the ground that such discovery is overly broad or burdensome,

it is incumbent upon [the party] to quantify for the trial court the manner in which such discovery might be overly broad or burdensome. [The party] must be able to show the volume of documents, or the number of man-hours required in their production, or some other quantitative factor that would make it so.

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